No.

In the Supreme Court of Ohio

APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS
NINTH APPELLATE DISTRICT
LORAIN COUNTY, OHIO
CASE NOS. 19CA011563 AND 20CA011632

GIBSON BROS., INC., et al.,

Plaintiffs-Appellees,

v.

OBERLIN COLLEGE, et al.,

Defendants-Appellants.

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF JURISDICTION OF APPELLANTS OBERLIN COLLEGE AND DR. MEREDITH RAIMONDO

Terry A. Moore (0015837)
Jacqueline Bollas Caldwell (0029991)
Owen J. Rarric (0075367)
Matthew W. Onest (0087907)
KRUGLIAK, WILKINS, GRIFFITHS
& DOUGHERTY CO., L.P.A.
4775 Munson Street, N.W.
P.O. Box 36963
Canton, OH 44735-6963
Tel: 330.497.0700
Fax: 330.497.4020
tmoore@kwgd.com / jcaldwell@kwgd.com
orarric@kwgd.com / monest@kwgd.com

I. THIS CASE RAISES SUBSTANTIAL CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTIONS AND IS ONE OF PUBLIC AND GREAT GENERAL INTEREST

This appeal arises out of a Ninth District decision establishing rules of law that will suppress free speech on college campuses and subvert Ohio tort reforms to punitive damages law. The Court should accept jurisdiction and resolve substantial constitutional questions and issues of public and great general interest, including:

- The Ninth District severed students’ right to protest orally from written protest materials, insisting its decision would not chill speech because oral chants were protected and Oberlin’s conduct was separate. Can a line be drawn between oral and written speech that protects only the former when the context is the same? Even if it can, can colleges be held responsible for facilitating this speech consistent with the First Amendment?
- Ohio reformed punitive damages law to restore fairness and predictability to the civil justice system. Can R.C. 2315.21’s text and these goals be squared with rules of law that (i) require a jury to revisit stage-one findings of no constitutional malice in a bifurcated trial and (ii) cap the ensuing punitive damages based on uncapped noneconomic loss?

First, the Ninth District’s novel line between oral and written protest speech is a substantial constitutional question meriting review. App. Op. ¶¶ 3-4, 25-26, Appx. 2, 10-11. The panel fails to justify this line, and it reflects at least two analytical errors that belie the assurance that the panel’s decision will not affect the “rights of individuals to voice opinions or protest.”

To begin with, the panel’s terse contextual analysis, App. Op. ¶¶ 36-37, Appx. 14, conflicts with *Jorg v. Cincinnati Black United Front*, 153 Ohio App.3d 258, 2003-Ohio-3668 (1st Dist.). *Jorg* explained that urging a boycott to protest racial injustice is a “call to action” that is “easily assumed” to be “a persuasive piece of advocacy.” *Id.* ¶¶ 20, 23. This means even “accusations of crimes” that in another context would seem factual are viewed “as opinions.” *Id.* ¶¶ 16, 24. Yet the Ninth District summarily concluded that a similar call to action here supported viewing the challenged statements as factual. App. Op. ¶ 36, Appx. 14. The Court should reject that conclusion and adopt *Jorg*, which aligns with this Court’s recognition that “[s]ome types of writing * * * by

custom or convention signal” speech is properly understood as opinion. (Emphasis in original.) *Wampler v. Higgins*, 93 Ohio St.3d 111, 131 (2001) (internal quotation omitted).

On top of this, the panel conflated constitutionally “protected opinion” with words considered “defamatory per se.” App. Op. ¶ 32, Appx. 13. Even speech that negatively “reflect[s] upon a person’s character,” *Becker v. Toulmin*, 165 Ohio St. 549, 556 (1956), may still qualify for protection as opinion. *Wampler*, 93 Ohio St.3d at 127 n. 8. For “[h]owever pernicious an opinion may seem, we depend for its correction not on the conscience of judges and juries but on the competition of other ideas.” *Id.* at 115 (internal quotation omitted). The Court should address this false dichotomy, which conflicts with *Wampler* and is mirrored in the trial court’s focus on whether the speech at issue was “pejorative.” See 4/22/19 JE, Appx. 59, 65-66, 69-71.

Review is crucial because these analytical errors make the distinctions drawn by the panel illusory: if speech is viewed as factual despite being part of a call to action and/or simply because it is defamatory, then *all* protest speech is at risk of being treated as factual going forward. Indeed, the damages here stemmed not from any statement in the writings, but projections on how long it “would take to overcome being accused of racism,” App. Op. ¶ 107, Appx. 37-38, the thrust of the protected oral chants. *Id.* ¶ 25, Appx. 10; 4/22/19 JE, Appx. 71. Thus, the only way for colleges to avoid liability under the Ninth District’s standard will be to censor protest speech and other speech on campus, including student newspapers and invited speakers.

Second, a rule of law that makes colleges liable as a “facilitator” of student speech, especially without also independently reviewing the record to ensure no intrusion on free expression, is a substantial constitutional question meriting review. The First Amendment imposes “a special obligation” to “examine critically the basis on which liability was imposed.” *NAACP v. Claiborne Hardware Co.*, 458 U.S. 886, 915 (1982). Broad and malleable facilitation rules that

make colleges liable for student speech—by, for example, allowing students to meet and pass resolutions, distribute speech by email, or display speech in a student center, App. Op. ¶ 50-52, Appx. 18-19—defy the precision the First Amendment requires. *NAACP v. Button*, 371 U.S. 415, 438 (1963). And characterizing steps that supposedly aided the distribution of a flyer and resolution not as speech but as “separate” conduct, in order to avoid review of the summary judgment and trial record on issues like actual malice, App. Op. ¶¶ 3, 20-22, 77-88, Appx. 2, 8-9, 27-31, conflicts with the First Amendment rule that an appellate court must independently review the whole record. *City of Urbana ex rel. Newlin v. Downing*, 43 Ohio St.3d 109, 115 (1989).

The Court should accept review and clarify that (i) the malleable facilitation rule adopted below fails to “provide adequate ‘breathing space’ to the freedoms protected by the First Amendment,” *Snyder v. Phelps*, 562 U.S. 443, 458 (2011) (internal quotation omitted); and (ii) independent appellate review applies (a) equally to alleged facilitators and (b) to all stages of a case. After all, constitutional issues, not party status, trigger independent appellate review. *Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union of U.S., Inc.*, 466 U.S. 485, 508 (1984).

Clarifying these rules is key to free expression on college campuses. Beyond the flawed facilitation rule, the panel never analyzed the record underlying irreconcilable jury findings in a bifurcated trial: (a) that Oberlin *did not* act with constitutional actual malice; and (b) after (incorrectly) revisiting the issue, that Oberlin *did* act with constitutional malice. The values protected by the constitutional malice standard, however, “make it imperative that judges—and in some cases judges of [the Supreme] Court—make sure that it is correctly applied.” *Bose Corp.*, 466 U.S. at 508. With speech on college campuses already under fire, the rules of law applied below will compel administrators to censor large swaths of additional speech across the political spectrum. *See Harte-Hanks Commc’ns, Inc. v. Connaughton*, 491 U.S. 657, 686 (1989)

(emphasizing that “[u]ncertainty as to the scope of the constitutional protection can only dissuade protected speech—the more elusive the standard, the less protection it affords”).

Third, the Court should confirm that tort reform does not upend the rule of law that an issue may be tried only once. This Court recently confirmed that defamation cases are “tort actions” subject to tort reform caps. *Wayt v. DHSC, L.L.C.*, 155 Ohio St.3d 401, 2018-Ohio-4822, ¶¶ 16-22. This case presents a novel but related issue: whether tort reform bifurcation alters the rule that a “jury should not be allowed or required to reverse its findings on vital issues of fact * * *.” *Elio v. Akron Transp. Co.*, 147 Ohio St. 363, 371 (1947). The Ninth District, believing that “a defamation case does not fit nicely” into R.C. 2315.21(B)(1), interpreted it to allow jurors to revisit their no-constitutional-malice finding at stage two because evidence of punitive damages cannot be presented in stage one. App. Op. ¶¶ 82-88, Appx. 29-31.

But the panel’s assumption that evidence that may bear on punitive damages cannot be presented in stage one is overbroad—only evidence relating “solely” to punitive damages is excluded at that stage. R.C. 2315.21(B)(1)(a). That is not true of constitutional actual malice evidence in a defamation case: the panel conceded this evidence does not relate “solely” to punitive damages and was properly admitted during stage one.¹ App. Op. ¶¶ 81-82, Appx. 28-29. Nor does R.C. 2315.21(B)(1) address, let alone alter, the rule that jurors cannot revisit their findings. The Ninth District’s rule of law thus finds no support in the statute’s text.

This rule also unconstitutionally burdens defamation defendants with defending an issue twice. The Gibsons offered no new evidence on constitutional malice during the punitive damages stage; they just reargued the stage one evidence. This second-bite-at-the-apple conflicts with the

¹ Actual malice is required for public figures to recover at all and, where speech addresses matters of public concern, 4/22/19 JE, Appx. 57, for any plaintiff to recover presumed damages (in stage one) or punitive damages (in stage two). *Gertz v. Robert Welch, Inc.*, 418 U.S. 323, 349 (1974).

rule that jurors cannot revisit their findings and interferes with the fact-finding process, denying Oberlin its constitutional right to trial by jury. *E.g., Arbino v. Johnson & Johnson*, 116 Ohio St.3d 468, 2007-Ohio-6948, ¶ 35 (“Section 5, Article I of the Ohio Constitution clearly protects this fact-finding function from outside interference.”).

Fourth, the proper application of R.C. 2315.21’s punitive damages cap merits review. The Ninth District held that a trial court caps punitive damages based on uncapped compensatory damages, a figure that includes amounts for noneconomic loss that a plaintiff cannot recover. App. Op. ¶¶ 110-113, Appx. 39-40. But this makes no sense, given the intent to “restore balance, fairness, and predictability to the civil justice system.” Am.Sub.S.B. No. 80, Section 3(A)(4)(a). Noneconomic loss is capped to address “improper consideration of evidence of wrongdoing,” *id.* at Section 3(A)(6)(d), meaning a rule of law that derives capped punitive damages from uncapped compensatory damages necessarily increases the judgment based on damages that punish at the liability stage. This double-punishment is unfair, and the resulting judgment is unpredictable.

The panel insisted that deriving capped punitive damages from capped compensatory damages does not align with R.C. 2315.21’s text. App. Op. ¶ 113, Appx. 39-40. But the panel concedes the cap applies to “compensatory damages *awarded* to the plaintiff,” based on jury “answers to an interrogatory that specifies the total compensatory damages *recoverable* by the plaintiff from each defendant.” (Emphasis added.) *Id.* ¶ 111, Appx. 39, quoting R.C. 2315.21(B)(2). And the panel does not (and cannot) explain how noneconomic losses not recoverable under R.C. 2315.18(E)(1), which a trial court cannot award in a judgment under R.C. 2315.18(F)(1), are somehow still “recoverable” and part of the compensatory damages “awarded” under R.C. 2315.21. The Court should accept jurisdiction and confirm capped punitive damages derive from capped compensatory damages.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. A bakery in the middle of a public controversy.

Plaintiff Gibson Bros., Inc., d/b/a Gibson's Bakery, is a well-known business bordering Oberlin College's campus. The bakery's "chase and detain" policy for shoplifters is "common knowledge." Its practices have generated controversy dating to the 1990s. Some people of color report favorable experiences; others report poor treatment. Allegations of racially charged incidents in the summary judgment record include a former employee who married a person of color being told by the Gibsons not to "have your N-word friends coming to your job"; a young girl told to let white customers be served first; and online reviews opining that "students who are not white" are "treated rudely and regarded with suspicion."

In recent years, racial controversy swirled around employee Allyn Gibson Jr., son of Plaintiff David Gibson and grandson of Plaintiff Allyn Gibson, Sr. In 2012, Allyn Jr. acknowledged "a huge thing about my store being racist"; in 2013, he claimed he was "getting sued for ass[a]ult b/c some piece of shit was preaching his black rights in my store"; and earlier in 2016, he complained that "people call me a racist * * * at least a few times a month" and that it was "[n]ot [his] fault most black ppl around my area suck." Allyn Jr. admitted he faced other accusations of racism too, up to a month before the incident.

B. A violent altercation outside the bakery sparks a peaceful protest urging a boycott on racial justice grounds.

The incident involved a physical altercation between Allyn Jr. and an unarmed black Oberlin student, Jonathan Aladin, in public view outside the bakery. Allyn Jr. saw Aladin concealing two bottles of wine and trying to buy a third with a fake ID. The police arrived and adopted the Gibsons' version of events: Allyn Jr. tried to detain Aladin, Aladin became violent and escaped, and, when he tried to detain Aladin again outside the store, Aladin knocked him to

the ground and began punching him. According to Allyn Jr., two black female students began punching and kicking him while he was on the ground.

Several eyewitnesses told a markedly different story: while still in the store, Allyn Jr. pushed Aladin to the ground and attacked him. Aladin broke free, left his things behind, and ran outside. Allyn Jr. pursued him across the street, tackling him and putting him in a chokehold. Two black female students tried to pry Allyn Jr. off Aladin. Oberlin police arrested Aladin and the two other black students, but not Allyn Jr. A businessman called 911 after watching these events unfold and tried to give the police a statement; the police did not contact him. A follow-up letter found in the police chief's office after his resignation included the businessman's observation that "[t]he dark skinned person looked like he was defending himself."

Oberlin students reacted swiftly to the altercation, organizing a peaceful protest of the bakery the next day that urged a boycott. Meredith Raimondo, Oberlin's Dean of Students who monitored the protest, arrived the next morning after it was underway. Students were chanting and distributing a Flyer conveying the same message as their chants. A student handed Raimondo a Flyer with large text stating, "**DON'T BUY.**" Underneath, the students wrote:

This is a RACIST establishment with a LONG ACCOUNT of RACIAL PROFILING and DISCRIMINATION. Today we urge you to shop elsewhere in light of a particularly heinous event involving the owners of this establishment and local law enforcement.

Id. (emphasis in original). On the other side, smaller writing referred to an assault with a description that tracked several eyewitness accounts. Raimondo handed a Flyer to a reporter; while a bakery employee thought he saw her hand Flyers to another student, Raimondo denied it.

Later that day, Oberlin's Student Senate passed a Resolution supporting the boycott and sent it to all students with a cover email describing the resolution as "part of an effort working towards making significant change as part of an important national justice movement." After

claiming that a “Black student was chased and assaulted at Gibson’s after being accused of stealing,” and referring to the arrest of “other students [who] attempt[ed] to prevent the assaulted student from sustaining further injury,” the Resolution asserted that “Gibsons has a history of racial profiling and discriminatory treatment[.]” The Resolution then called on: (i) students to “immediately cease all support, financial and otherwise, of Gibson’s Food Market and Bakery”; and (ii) Raimondo, then-President Marvin Krislov, and “other administrators and the general faculty to condemn by written promulgation the treatment of students of color by Gibson’s.”

After the Senate emailed the Resolution to students, a Senator forwarded a copy to Raimondo and President Krislov. (A student later posted the Resolution in a locked bulletin board in the basement of the student union; no one testified that either Raimondo or Krislov saw it before this lawsuit.) Fairly quickly, Oberlin heard “very different, differing views from a number of people” about the bakery’s treatment of persons of color—people “were coming out of the woodwork.” Based on these conflicting accounts, and because it appeared that the students had a reasonable basis for their opinions, Oberlin declined the Gibson’s later demand to censure its students’ speech.

C. A lawsuit leads to an over \$30 million judgment against a college for the opinions its students expressed.

The Gibsons sued Oberlin College and Raimondo (collectively, “Oberlin”) for “facilitating” an “economic boycott of Gibson’s.” Oberlin moved for summary judgment, asserting (among other things) that the students’ protest speech was constitutionally protected and the Gibsons were limited purpose public figures who could not show actual malice. The trial court: (i) ruled that students’ chants were protected opinion, but allowed libel and intentional infliction of emotional distress (IIED) claims to go to trial based on similar written allegations in the Flyer and Resolution; and (ii) held as a matter of law that the Gibsons were not public figures of any kind.

Trial on the three remaining claims against both defendants (libel, IIED, and tortious interference with business relationships) was bifurcated into compensatory and punitive damages phases. The compensatory stage resulted in: (i) findings against both Oberlin and Raimondo on libel, but only against Oberlin on IIED and only against Raimondo on tortious interference; and (ii) damages totaling \$11,074,500. The jury also repeatedly found that neither Oberlin nor Raimondo acted with constitutional actual malice. But the trial court allowed, over Oberlin's objection, a punitive damages phase on all three claims, requiring jurors to revisit constitutional actual malice and resulting \$33,223,500 in punitive damages on the libel and IIED claims only. An incorrect application of damages caps led to a judgment with \$5,174,500 in compensatory damages and \$19,874,500 in punitive damages; a later award of attorney fees and expenses based on the punitive damages resulted in a \$31,614,531.79 final judgment.

Oberlin appealed and the Ninth District affirmed, rejecting some of its arguments and failing to fully address others. *Compare, e.g.*, Appellants' Br. 11, 17-19 (arguing that the required independent appellate review showed no actual malice) *with* App. Op. ¶¶ 19-22, 77-89, Appx. 7-9, 27-31 (reciting wrong standard of review and conducting no review of record on actual malice); Appellants' Br. 20-21 (arguing that a failure to isolate damages caused by unprotected conduct is subject to independent appellate review and plain-error review) *with* App. Op. ¶¶ 23, n. 2, Appx. 10 (no review of whether damages flowed from unprotected conduct); Appellants' Br. 17 (citing *Elio, supra*, and other authorities holding that a trial court cannot require the jury to reconsider its findings) *with* App. Op. ¶ 77, Appx. 27 (claiming "Oberlin cites no authority in support of its argument on appeal"); Appellants' Br. 25 (arguing that excluded testimony was not hearsay because it was offered to show its effect on the listener's state of mind) *with* App. Op. ¶¶ 104, Appx. 36 (claiming "Oberlin does not argue that these statements were not hearsay").

III. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF PROPOSITIONS OF LAW

Proposition of Law No. 1:

The constitutional protection of opinion speech applies equally to oral and written statements during protests, regardless of the tort theory. A viewpoint or interpretation of events that is protected when spoken is also protected when expressed in writing.

The Ohio Constitution’s “separate and independent guarantee of protection for opinion” is broader than the First Amendment. *Vail v. Plain Dealer Publ’g Co.*, 72 Ohio St.3d 279, 281 (1995). Whether speech is opinion is a question of law that turns on four factors, including “the specific language used, whether the statement is verifiable, the general context of the statement, and finally, the broader context in which it appears.” *Id.* at 282. When, taken in context, speech is advocacy, it is protected even if the challenged statement is verifiable. *Scott v. News Herald*, 25 Ohio St.3d 243, 252-254 (1986) (in context, perjury accusation is opinion); *Jorg*, 2003-Ohio-3668, ¶¶ 23-24.

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