03367244-1 / 012000-000027  

Case No. 2022-0583                
In the Supreme Court of Ohio 

   
 

ON APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS 
NINTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 

LORAIN COUNTY, OHIO 
CASE NOS. 19CA011563 AND  20CA011632 

   
 

GIBSON BROS., INC., et al., 
 

Plaintiffs/Appellees/Cross-Appellants, 
 

vs. 
 

OBERLIN COLLEGE, et al., 
 

Defendants/Appellants/Cross-Appellees. 
              
 

MEMORANDUM IN OPPOSITION TO JURISDICTION & 
MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF JURISDICTION OF CROSS-APPEAL 
OF APPELLEES, GIBSON BROS., INC., LORNA J. GIBSON, EXECUTOR 
OF THE ESTATE OF DAVID R. GIBSON, DECEASED, AND ALLYN W. 

GIBSON, DECEASED 
               

 
Lee E. Plakas (0008628)

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

Ohio App.3d 844, 2011-Ohio-3494, 958 N.E.2d 598, ¶¶ 45-46 (10th Dist. 2011). 

Oberlin first disseminated the statements during a targeted protest campaign against a 

private business and private citizens. The statements were not presented as hyperbole or sarcasm. 

Vail, 72 Ohio St.3d at 282. And Oberlin’s defamation was not some broader campaign against 

governmental actors or society in general, like that in Jorg.  

In Jorg, the defendant civil rights organization led a boycott campaign against the entire 

city of Cincinnati. Jorg v. Cincinnati Black United Front, 153 Ohio App.3d 258, 2003-Ohio-3668, 

792 N.E.2d 781, ¶ 2. The defendant was an outspoken critic of the police department and advocate 

for police reform after an individual died in police custody. Id. ¶ 3. As part of the political advocacy 

efforts, the defendant distributed written materials to “numerous national performers and 

organizations that were scheduled to appear in Cincinnati.” Id. The materials accused the city, 

generally, of instituting “tyranny and general oppression” against minorities. Id. ¶ 20. The 

defendant was trying to highlight “an immediate crisis” within Cincinnati. Id. 

Jorg is distinguishable from this case because Oberlin is an educational institution – its 

faculty, administrators, and employees conducted a targeted campaign to destroy a private family 

business and private citizens. Oberlin did not protest against the policies of a governmental entity. 

Oberlin attacked the livelihood of private citizens. Oberlin published pointed statements claiming 

racial profiling, racial discrimination, and assaults against particular individuals. The defamatory 

statements were not used to call attention to broader issues in the city of Oberlin or with a 

governmental department. See Ohio Constitution, Article I, Section 3; State v. Kalman, 4th Dist. 

No. 16CA9, 2017-Ohio-7548, 84 N.E.3d 1088, ¶ 29.  
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Oberlin’s statements were created for use in a deliberate and calculated campaign directed 

against specific private citizens. The statements targeted Gibsons’ reputation within the Oberlin 

community, including among potential customers. They were used to convey a specific message 

(that Gibsons were racists and violently targeted racial minorities) in hopes of driving business 

away from Gibsons and distracting attention away from the Oberlin administration’s own 

controversies at the time. Oberlin did just that–as they acknowledged during trial–achieving a 

complete smearing of Gibsons name and brand. 

Oberlin ignores the fact that Ohio law distinguishes between spoken and written word. 

Indeed, some words when spoken may not be defamatory, but those same words published in 

written form are defamatory. Holloway v. Scripps Pub. Co., 11 Ohio App. 226, 232 (8th 

Dist.1919). The distinction exists because written words are presumed to be more deliberative 

prior to publication. Id.; G.M. McKelvey Co. v. Nanson, 5 Ohio App. 73 (7th Dist.1915). So, 

Oberlin’s claim that it cannot be held liable for libel if it was not also held liable for slander is not 

supported under Ohio law. 

Oberlin’s cursory discussion of Gibsons’ intentional infliction of emotional distress claim 

(“IIED”) is not well-taken. The Ninth District relied on many pieces of evidence outside Oberlin’s 

defamation to support the jury’s IIED verdict. [Appx. 25-26, ¶¶ 72-76]. 

This proposition is not well-taken, as it is resolved by well-settled Ohio law in Vail, and 

the Gibsons respectfully request that this Court decline to accept jurisdiction on this proposition 

of law. 
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B. Response to Oberlin’s Proposed Proposition of Law No. 2: Oberlin’s second 
proposition fails to articulate a rule of law that could properly be adopted by this Court. 
As such, it raises no matter of great or public interest and should be rejected by this 
Court. 

 
Oberlin’s Proposition of Law No. 2 mischaracterizes the nature of the verdict and purports 

to refute the Ninth District’s well-reasoned decision. Because the Gibsons were private figures 

who provided evidence of actual damages, the appellate court was not required to conduct an 

independent review. The correct application of established law does not present a constitutional 

question or one of great general or public interest. 

The Ninth District did not create a new rule of Ohio law. Oberlin was not found liable for 

“facilitating” student speech. Instead, Oberlin was held responsible for taking direct action to 

publish defamatory materials that devastated the Gibsons’ lives. See Sec. II(D). In reaching its 

conclusion, the Ninth District relied on longstanding caselaw. See Gibson ¶¶ 38-40.  

Oberlin falsely claims that the Ninth District failed to conduct an independent review of 

the records even though the decision spans more than 130 paragraphs and considered each issue 

raised in depth. Regardless, the Ninth District was not required to conduct an “independent” review 

of the record. If at all, the concept of an independent review of the record only arises where state 

law defamation claims intersect with the narrow class of cases that involve the constitutional actual 

malice standard. See Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union of U.S., Inc., 466 U.S. 485, 508, 104 S.Ct. 

1949 (1984). But this Court articulated that where the case involves negligent defamation, an 

independent review is not required: “However, in cases such as the one at bar, where actual 

malice need not be proven, we decline to embrace the independent review requirement.” 

Lansdowne v. Beacon J. Pub. Co., 32 Ohio St.3d 176, 181, 512 N.E.2d 979 (1987). 

 In its briefing below, Oberlin only urged the Ninth District to conduct an “independent” 

review in conjunction with the first assignment of error, which demanded judgment as a matter of 
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law on the Gibsons’ libel claim. But the Ninth District, based on longstanding case law, determined 

that the Gibsons were private figures. See Gibson ¶¶ 58-62. Because this case involved private 

figures regarding a matter of public concern, the Gibsons only had to show negligence to succeed 

on their libel claims because they submitted proof of actual damages (as opposed to presumed 

damages) during the compensatory phase of trial. See Gilbert v. WNIR 100 FM, 142 Ohio App.3d 

725, 744, 756 N.E.2d 1263 (9th Dist. 2001). Oberlin did not challenge the jury’s finding of 

negligence, and, even if they did, the Ninth District was not obligated to conduct an independent 

review of the record.3 

This proposition is not well-taken as it fails to articulate a rule of law that could become a 

syllabus and merely takes issue with the settled area of law as analyzed by the Ninth District. As 

such, this Court should decline to accept it. 

C. Response to Proposed Proposition of Law No. 3: Oberlin’s Proposed Proposition of 
Law No. 3 deals with a factually specific case and has little or no precedential value and 
ignores (1) a statutory mandate regarding bifurcation of compensatory and punitive 
damages and (2) the fact that Oberlin requested the bifurcation. 

 
There is no reason for this Court to accept jurisdiction on Oberlin’s proposed third 

proposition because it creates no general rule of law as it is limited to narrow and unique issues 

that will have no impact on future cases. This is so because the following facts must be present 

before the issue would arise again: (1) a defamation claim asserted by a private person related to a 

matter of public concern; (2) a defense motion to bifurcate the punitive and compensatory phases 

of trial under R.C. 2315.21(B)(1); (3) a private person plaintiff offers proof of actual damages to 

the jury; (4) a private person plaintiff chooses not to seek presumed damages and hence does not 

                                                 
3 While the Gibsons were required and did in fact prove actual malice during the punitive phase of 
trial, see id., Oberlin did not challenge the evidentiary basis for actual malice in conjunction with 
the jury’s punitive findings. Instead, Oberlin limited its argument to incorrect claims that the issue 
of actual malice should not have been submitted at all during the punitive phase.  
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focus on libel actual malice at trial; and (5) the private person plaintiff submits sufficient proof for 

libel actual malice during the punitive phase of trial. This is a factually specific case procedure 

mandated by statute and does not present an issue of general or public interest. 

Further, the Ninth District correctly ruled on this issue. The jury’s finding on libel actual 

malice in the compensatory phase was not issue preclusive because it was not “essential to the 

judgment.” See Goodson v. McDonough Power Equipment, Inc., 2 Ohio St.3d 193, 201, 443 

N.E.2d 978 (1983). Because the Gibsons submitted evidence of actual harm, they only needed to 

prove negligence to succeed on their libel claims during the compensatory phase of trial. See 

Gibson ¶ 80. See also Gilbert, 142 Ohio App.3d at 744. Importantly, Oberlin invited this 

procedure by filing to bifurcate under R.C. 2315.21(B)(1). Once Oberlin sought bifurcation, the 

Gibsons were precluded from submitting evidence on punitive damages during the compensatory 

phase of trial. R.C. 2315.21(B)(1)(a). During the punitive phase, the Gibsons submitted substantial 

additional evidence on libel actual malice, including witness testimony and documentary evidence. 

Oberlin posits three main arguments regarding bifurcation: 

First, Oberlin erroneously claims that Section 5, Article I, of the Ohio Constitution, the 

right to trial by jury, precludes the submission of libel actual malice in both phases of trial. To the 

contrary, it merely states, “[t]he right of trial by jury shall be inviolate.” Oberlin does not cite (and 

the Gibsons are unaware of) any Ohio authority stating that the right to trial by jury prevents the 

submission of overlapping issues in a bifurcated trial in both phases. The only authorities cited by 

Oberlin are not on point. Bradley v. Mansfield Rapid Transit, Inc., 154 Ohio St. 154 (1950) and 

Elio v. Akron Transp. Co., 147 Ohio St. 363, 370 (1947) are distinguishable on their facts, were 

decided decades before the enactment of R.C. 2315.21, and did not deal with the bifurcation of 

punitive damages. 
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Second, Oberlin claims that R.C. 2315.21 does not allow actual malice to be considered in 

both phases, but this is wrong. A case bifurcated under R.C. 2315.21(B)(1)(a) is initially to be 

submitted to the jury on the issue of compensatory damages. During this initial stage, evidence on 

punitive damages may not be submitted. Id. Then, if the jury makes a finding that the plaintiff is 

entitled to compensatory damages for any reason, the plaintiff is entitled to proceed to the punitive 

damages phase of trial. R.C. 2315.21(B)(1)(b). The Gibsons did not need to prove actual malice 

to obtain compensatory damages; instead, the Gibsons could prove (and did prove) that Oberlin’s 

defamation caused actual damages. See Sec.III(B). Because actual malice was not an essential 

finding for compensatory damages, but a necessary finding for punitive damages, the trial court 

was obligated to submit actual malice to the jury during the punitive phase of trial. 

Third, Oberlin and/or amici argue that other jurisdictions do not allow bifurcation where 

issues may overlap between different phases of trial. But there is one glaring issue with this 

argument: each case cited by Oberlin and/or amici dealt with Fed.R.Civ.P. 42 (or a similar state 

rule) that places the decision of bifurcation within the trial court’s discretion. (See, OACTA Br., 

pp. 6-7). But here, bifurcation was mandatory once requested by Oberlin. R.C. 2315.21(B). 

Oberlin knew this and requested bifurcation. Once requested, the trial court lost all discretion 

regarding bifurcation.    

Because it is so factually specific, Oberlin requested bifurcation, the trial court adhered to 

the provisions of R.C. 2315.21, and the appellate court affirmed that determination, this Court 

should not accept jurisdiction on Oberlin’s Proposed Proposition of Law No. 3.  

D. Response to Proposed Proposition of Law No. 4: Oberlin’s fourth proposition of law 
ignores R.C. 2315.21’s plain language, which caps punitive damages at twice the 
amount of compensatory damages awarded by the jury. 
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R.C. 2315.21 caps punitive damages at two times the amount of compensatory damages 

awarded by the jury, not two times the amount of compensatory damages after application of R.C. 

2315.18’s cap on noneconomic damages.  

When a case is tried to a jury and the plaintiff is seeking compensatory and punitive 

damages, “the court shall instruct the jury to return, and the jury shall return, a general verdict and, 

if that verdict is in favor of the plaintiff, answers to an interrogatory that specifies the total 

compensatory damages recoverable by the plaintiff[.]” R.C. 2315.21(B)(2). This statutory 

provision does not discuss, describe, or incorporate the noneconomic damages caps found in R.C. 

2315.18. Then, when the court applies the punitive damages cap, the statute expressly instructs the 

court to apply the cap according to the compensatory damages awarded by the jury pursuant to 

R.C. 2315.21(B)(2): “The court shall not enter judgment for punitive or exemplary damages in 

excess of two times the amount of the compensatory damages awarded to the plaintiff ... as 

determined pursuant to division (B)(2) ... of this section.” R.C. 2315.21(D)(2)(a) [emphasis 

added]. 

 Relying on legislative history surrounding Ohio’s tort reform movement, Oberlin 

incorrectly claims that the word “recoverable” in R.C. 2315.21(B)(2) refers to the amount of 

compensatory damages after application of the noneconomic damages cap. The flaw in this 

position is two-fold.4  

First, Oberlin ignores the first rule of statutory construction: “An unambiguous statute is 

to be applied, not interpreted.” Sears v. Weimer, 143 Ohio St. 312, 55 N.E.2d 413 (1944), syllabus 

                                                 
4 Oberlin and amici try to create some distinction between the word “awarded” and “decided.” 
Oberlin and amici claim that the jury decides the amount of damages, and the court awards 
damages. But even a cursory review of the statutory language reveals this as a red herring. R.C. 
2315.21(D)(2)(a) specifically instructs the trial court to enter “judgment” for no more than two 
times the amount of compensatory damages “awarded” to the plaintiff by the jury. 
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[emphasis added]. Reference to legislative history is inappropriate where a court is applying an 

unambiguous statute. See Jacobson v. Kaforey, 149 Ohio St.3d 398, 2016-Ohio-8434, 75 N.E.3d 

203, ¶ 8. R.C. 2315.21 is unambiguous and should applied, not interpreted.  

Second, the language of R.C. 2315.21(B)(2) specifically refers to the amount of money the 

jury awards as compensatory damages. And R.C. 2315.18(F)(2) states that the jury cannot be told 

of the cap. Thus, the word “recoverable” cannot include a cap on noneconomic damages. See 

Faieta v. World Harvest Church, 10th Dist. Franklin No. 08AP-527, 2008-Ohio-6959 ¶ 90 

(interpreting the word “recoverable” to mean “the uncapped, total compensatory damages the jury 

awarded.”).  

It is important to note, however, that the legislative materials Oberlin references discuss a 

need for a reduction in punitive damages awards, which is exactly what happened in this case. 

The jury awarded the Gibsons in excess of $33.2 million dollars in punitive damages. After 

applying R.C. 2315.21, the trial court reduced the Gibsons’ punitive award by more than forty 

(40) percent. 

 There is no confusion or conflict among appellate courts regarding this unambiguous 

statute. The Ninth District’s decision is directly on point with the only other Ohio appellate court 

to discuss this issue. See Faieta v. World Harvest Church, 10th Dist. Franklin No. 08AP-527, 

2008-Ohio-6959. Therefore, this proposed proposition of law does not raise of question of great 

public or general concern. 
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IV. CONCLUSION 
 

Because none of the proposed propositions of law raise substantial constitutional questions 

or matters of public or great general interest, deal with questions of settled law regarding 

defamation or settled factual questions, and don’t present this Court with a novel or confused issue 

to be decided, the Gibsons respectfully request that this Court decline jurisdiction on Oberlin’s 

appeal. 
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MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF JURISDICTION OF CROSS-APPEAL 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 

Recently, the Court entertained argument in Amanda Brandt v. Roy Pompa, et al., 2021-

0497, where the appellant seeks an exception to the statutory non-economic damages cap. In

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